



NOSCAPINE

A SAFE COUGH SUPPRESSANT WITH

NEWLY DISCOVERED EFFECTS IN

TREATING

CANCER AND STROKE

SPECIAL EDITION PUBLISHED IN COLLABORATION WITH

Prostate Cancer Research and Education Foundation 548-, Baltimore Dr, suite 202, La Mesa, CA 91942 Tel: 619-461-8181, Fax: 619-461-6682 Email: info@pcref.org http://www.pcref.org A 501(c)3 Non Profit Organization

MedInsight Research Institute 15 W. Loockerman St Dover, DE 19904 USA Email: info@medinsight.org *A 501(c)3 Non Profit Organization*

© FEB '07 MEDINSIGHT RESEARCH INSTITUTE IN COLLABORATION WITH PROSTATE CANCER RESEARCH AND EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATION

Table of Contents

1.0 Summary

- 2.0 History
 - 2.1 Cough-suppressing Effects Discovered
 - 2.2 Anti-cancer Effects Originally Discovered
 - 2.3 Anti-cancer Effects Rediscovered
 - 2.4 Developing Synthetic Derivatives of Noscapine
 - 2.5 Clinical Trials in Cancer
 - 2.5.1 Applications in Prostate Cancer
 - 2.6 Clinical Trial in Stroke Victims
- 3.0 Uses
- 4.0 Mode of Ingestion
- 5.0 Pharmacokinetics
- 6.0 Safety and Side Effects
- 7.0 Mechanism of Action
- 8.0 Pathways Modulated
 - 8.1 Bradykinin Inhibition
 - 8.2 HIF-1alpha Inhibition
 - 8.3 VEGF Inhibition
- 9.0 Discussion
- 10.0 Availability
- **11.0 Conclusion**

1.0 SUMMARY

Noscapine is a very safe cough suppressant (antitussive) which has been in use for many decades. In recent years, noscapine's anti-cancer effect has been demonstrated when taken at doses higher than those used for cough suppression. It is currently in off-label use by a number of physicians in treatment of cancers of the breast, lung, prostate, ovaries and brain, and lymphomas, to name but a few. It is being clinically studied in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL).

Noscapine, a non-addictive derivative of opium, has also demonstrated outstanding clinical effectiveness in reducing death rates from strokes. Its long safety record, widespread availability and ease of administration make it an ideal candidate for fighting several life-threatening conditions.

2.0 HISTORY

In 1817, Pierre-Jean Robiquet, a famous French pharmacist and professor at the Paris Ecole de Pharmacie, fellow of the Academie Royale des Sciences, isolated two natural compounds from opium: codeine and noscapine.¹ Noscapine, formerly known as narcotine, anarcotine or gnoscopine, was classified as an alkaloid. It forms between four and twelve percent of the opium seed.

In the late nineteenth century, opium (*Papaver somniferum*) was known as an anti-malarial medicine. It was mainly produced in India, which was at that time part of the British Empire, and was considered the third pillar of British India's economy. The opium trade was not without controversy, however. This finally prompted the establishment of a Royal Commission on Opium. During the 1893-95 Royal Commission, its medical expert, Sir Robert Williams, concluded that noscapine was responsible for opium's ability to prevent and treat malaria. This was in contrast to the opinion of renowned chemists, who by 1874 had classified it as an insignificant substance possessing minimal or no therapeutic value.²

Noscapine's application as an anti-malarial was revived in 1895 at the suggestion of Sir Robert Williams. It remained in use for many years, until a comprehensive study published in 1930 discredited its use for this purpose.³

The earliest pharmacological investigations of noscapine attempted to define its analgesic (pain-relieving) properties. It was found that the alkaloid on its own has a very slight analgesic effect.⁴ However, when taken with morphine, it acts synergistically to potentiate morphine's sedative effects^{4,5} by as much as threefold.⁶ Furthermore, noscapine did not cause constipation, unlike the other opium alkaloids such as morphine, codeine, and papaverine.⁷

2.1 COUGH-SUPPRESSING EFFECTS DISCOVERED

Noscapine's antitussive effect was first suggested in 1930, and was described more comprehensively in 1954.⁸ Studies over the course of the next few years confirmed its general antitussive effect, and specifically the relief it provided to patients suffering from bronchial asthma.^{9, 10, 11, 12, 13,}

¹⁴ A review of the evidence available, as well as extensive further testing, prompted a recommendation in 1959 that noscapine replace codeine as an antitussive.¹⁵

Since the 1960s, noscapine has been widely used as an antitussive medication throughout Europe, Japan, North and South America, and South Africa. It is listed in the pharmacopeias of many countries including those of Europe, Japan and the United States. It has been administered orally in tablets, lozenges or syrup, and rectally in suppository form.

2.2 ANTI-CANCER EFFECTS DISCOVERED

In 1958, cell culture studies performed for the United States National Cancer Institute found noscapine to possess significant cytotoxic properties.¹⁶ This was similar to findings that had also been reported in 1954.¹⁷ Perhaps due to the fact that it was no longer patentable, no further studies were carried out to determine its effect on treating cancer.

2.3 ANTI-CANCER EFFECTS REDISCOVERED

Noscapine's anti-cancer effect was rediscovered in 1997 by Keqiang Ye, a graduate student at Emory University School of Medicine in Atlanta, USA. Working under the direction of Dr Harish Joshi, professor of cell biology, Ye embarked on an intensive search for compounds which could act as antimicrotubule drugs.

Microtubules are structures involved in cell division. Anti-microtubule drugs disturb the assembly of the microtubules, thus preventing cell division. In normal cell growth, microtubules are formed when a cell starts to divide. Once the cell stops dividing, the microtubules are either broken down or destroyed. Anti-microtubule drugs stop the microtubules from breaking down, thus causing cancer cells to become so clogged with microtubules that they cannot further grow and divide. One of the promising anti-microtubule compounds which Ye came across was noscapine, a common cough suppressant.

The initial study on noscapine by the scientists at Emory University led to some very promising findings. Treating animals which had been transplanted with human breast cancer tumors, they were able to reduce tumor volume by 80% within three weeks. Most importantly, this was done without any visible toxicity to the animals' vital organs. The authors concluded that noscapine reduces tumor size quite dramatically, with no obvious weight loss nor any detected tissue toxicity after noscapine treatment.¹⁸ Conveniently, noscapine's effectiveness could be achieved through oral administration.

The first Emory University noscapine study was published in February 1998 in the *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* in the USA. A subsequent paper published in July 2000 confirmed noscapine's effects against murine lymphoma. In the words of the authors of the study:

It is noteworthy that noscapine showed little or no toxicity to kidney, liver, heart, bone marrow, spleen, or small intestine at tumorsuppressive doses. Furthermore, oral noscapine did not inhibit primary immune responses, which are critically dependent upon proliferation of lymphoid cells. Thus, our results indicate that noscapine has the potential to be an effective chemotherapeutic agent for the treatment of human cancer.¹⁹

Further studies were carried out at Emory University to test the effectiveness of noscapine against additional cancers. Among other types, these have

included ovarian cancer,²⁰ malignant melanoma,²¹ bladder cancer,¹⁸ and glioblastoma,²² all studies having demonstrated very significant results with minimal toxicity.

Dr Joshi and his team have carried out extensive tests in order to try and determine the exact mechanism by which noscapine stops the division of cancer cells. Details of their studies have been published in various medical journals during the past few years.^{20,23,24}

Researchers at other institutions have also been studying the anti-cancer effects of noscapine. These include University of Minnesota, USA, and University of Delhi, India. Dr Sundaram Ramakrishnan and his team at University of Minnesota have been studying the effects of noscapine on cancer since 1999.

Dr Ramakrishnan's experiments have demonstrated effectiveness against Taxol-resistant ovarian cancer.^{25,26} Models of cervical cancer have also been evaluated,²⁷ and a paper detailing his team's successful results is pending publication. Dr Ramakrishnan is also exploring the possibility of cancers' eventually developing MDR (mediated drug resistance) to noscapine therapy and ways to avoid this.

2.4 DEVELOPING SYNTHETIC DERIVATIVES OF NOSCAPINE

Since noscapine has been on the market for many years, the compound itself cannot be patented. Nevertheless, recognizing the potential market for noscapine in treatment of cancer, a use patent was filed by the discoverers in August 1997 on the effect of noscapine against cancer.²⁸ After several modifications, the patent was finally granted in 2002, and assigned to Emory University.²⁹

As noted in the Emory Report,³⁰ Emory University officials soon realized that they were unlikely to find commercial sponsorship to further develop noscapine:

The University has submitted a patent on noscapine, but because the drug is already used in cough medicine, the patent only covers its use as an anti-cancer drug. Any company investing heavily in clinical trials [takes] a gamble [on] its ability to recoup capital, since it would not retain sole rights to the drug. This uncertainty has scared off larger companies that usually manufacture synthetic drugs, but Emory officials remain cautiously optimistic.

"The best thing [noscapine] has going for it is that it's been used by people for a very long time, so we know that it's relatively safe—and that's a very big step," said Dennis Liotta, vice president for research. Emory also is looking to develop additional noscapine analogs—[similar compounds with] synthesized changes to the drug's structure, Liotta said. These slight changes might [make the drug] even more effective in stopping cancer, and since they would be manmade, the new compounds could be patented.

Subsequent to this, Emory researchers, in collaboration with scientists at University of Delhi, India, worked on somehow modifying noscapine in order that they could patent a derivative whilst maintaining or improving its anticancer effect. They succeeded in doing so, and in January 2002 they applied for a patent covering the modified substances. The patent was granted in January 2004.³¹ Details of their results were published in 2003, on what they termed "Brominated Derivatives of Noscapine."³² On June 15, 2004, Emory University finally licensed the rights to commercially develop noscapine and its modified compounds to Cougar Biotechnology in California, USA.³³

2.5 CLINICAL TRIALS IN CANCER

Following the publicizing of noscapine's anti-cancer effect, many patients suffering from various types of cancer began to use noscapine on their own accord, or at the suggestion of their physicians. Following several anecdotal reports of patients who had failed multiple standard chemotherapy agents and had subsequently responded to noscapine, the Walter Payton Cancer Fund of the Norris Cancer Center, University of Southern California, decided to sponsor a human trial. This Phase I/II trial is targeted at patients suffering from non-Hodgkin's lymphoma or chronic lymphocytic leukemia. It is aimed at clarifying the safe and effective doses of noscapine. The doses used in the trial range from 1,000 to 3,000 mg per day.

In December 2005, positive interim results were presented at the annual meeting of the American Society of Hematology in Atlanta, Georgia.

Much researcher focus is presently concentrated on the new patented synthetic derivatives of noscapine. These new compounds with high commercial potential are making their way from laboratory synthesis through animal testing, and will reach clinical testing within a few years.

2.5.1 Applications in Prostate Cancer

Dr. Israel Barken, Founder and Medical Director of the Prostate Cancer Research and Educational Foundation (PC-REF) in San Diego, California, has used noscapine for treating prostate cancer with patients residing outside the U.S. In the U.S., patients were treated by special permission based on compassionate use clearance. Encouraged by his observations, PC-REF funded a pre-clinical study to confirm noscapine's effectiveness and mode of action in treating prostate cancer.

On Feb. 15th, 2007, Dr. Barken made a presentation at the 17th International Prostate Cancer Update conference in Vail, Colorado. He presented the result of research demonstrating the effect of noscapine on aggressive human prostate cancer implanted in mice.

The results of the study showed:

- 1. Significant inhibition of the growth of the primary tumor in the treated versus the untreated group.
- 2. Significantly less metastatic disease in the treated group compared to the untreated group.

Dr. Barken is now moving to facilitate clinical trials with noscapine in patients suffering from prostate cancer. He has also pioneered a webbased patient tracking graph system, (<u>www.pcref.org</u>) which allows data to be collected with ease. This will enable global participation of patients in any trial.

PCREF strongly urges patients who obtain noscapine outside of formal trials to involve their treating physician, and to register their clinical data and medical history on the PCREF web based patient tracking graph system (www.pcref.org). Patients will benefit greatly from having their complete medical history put on a single page, and presented in a colored graph. PCREF will use the collected data to expand the knowledge and understanding of the activity of noscapine in prostate cancer.

2.6 CLINICAL TRIAL IN STROKE VICTIMS

Bradykinin is a protein produced in the blood in response to injury. Bradykinin activates several mechanisms that are responsible for the early manifestations of inflammation, including arteriolar dilatation, increased vascular permeability, and edema formation. Bradykinin is known to be responsible for much of the brain damage suffered by stroke victims, and several studies have proposed methods of inhibition of bradykinin as potential therapy for the complications of stroke,³⁴ which is the third leading cause of death in developed countries.

A group of Iranian researchers who were aware of noscapine's effect in suppression of bradykinin, launched a controlled clinical trial of noscapine in victims of stroke. The results of the trial were published in 2003. Using a low dose of noscapine equivalent to that used to suppress coughing, remarkable results were achieved. The noscapine-treated group experienced a 20% mortality rate, as opposed to 80% in the untreated group.³⁵

The researchers in this study have attributed noscapine's effectiveness in treating victims of stroke to its antagonism of bradykinin.

3.0 Uses

As of the time of writing, the only formally approved application for noscapine is as a cough suppressant. Usual doses used for cough suppression vary from 45 to 200 mg per day, usually in three divided doses.

Off-label use of noscapine is being made by a number of physicians in treating cancers of the breast, lung, prostate, and ovaries. Clinical trials have

yet to be performed to determine optimal dosages. Dosages currently in use for cancer range between 1,000 to 2,250 mg per day, usually in three divided doses.

Some physicians are using noscapine for its pain-relief effects by combining it with lower-than-usual doses of morphine. The author is presently unaware of any physicians using noscapine for treatment of stroke. This does, however, remain a safe and effective potential application.

4.0 MODE OF INGESTION

Noscapine can be given orally in tablets, lozenges, capsules, and syrup, and rectally in suppositories. It has also been tested in intravenous form in humans; however, since oral absorption is found to be satisfactory³⁶, being additionally safer and far less expensive than intravenous forms, it remains the route of choice. Due to its low molecular weight, Noscapine can be administered trans-dermally in cream form, provided it is combined with an effective penetrant.

5.0 PHARMACOKINETICS

The common form of noscapine which is used in cough suppression is noscapine hydrochloride (Hcl). Noscapine Hcl has a half-life of 4.5 hours in the body.³⁷ However, a study performed at the Royal Danish School of Pharmacy in Copenhagen has demonstrated that consumption of noscapine base produces significantly higher bioavailability than that of noscapine hydrochloride (Hcl).³⁸ It may therefore be possible to achieve more successful results with lower doses of noscapine base than with higher doses of noscapine Hcl.

6.0 SAFETY AND SIDE EFFECTS

The side effects which have been observed with very high doses of noscapine Hcl have generally been limited to nausea and abdominal discomfort in a small percentage of patients. Extensive toxicology studies carried out in both animals³⁹ and humans^{3,43} have confirmed its extremely low toxicity,⁴⁵ with little or no effect on vital organs and blood parameters, and with negligible side effects.⁴⁰

In 1961, a toxicity study on terminally ill cancer patients, many with only days left to live, was carried out by the renowned Dr. Louis Lasagna at Johns Hopkins University. It was found that at daily doses of up to 3,000 mg, 80% of patients experienced no side effects.⁴¹ The other 20% experienced mild sedation and abdominal discomfort. However, this study had no control group and therefore it could not be determined whether the side effects experienced by the minority of patients were due to noscapine or to their terminal illnesses.

Subsequent protocols for animal-based studies on the anti-cancer effect of noscapine (described below) determined what could be considered a "safe" dose according to the results of Dr. Lasagna's study.

Precaution is required before administering noscapine to patients during pregnancy. In 1991, the UK Committee on Safety of Medicines recommended that noscapine should be contraindicated in women of childbearing potential because of potential genotoxicity.⁴² This decision was criticized, however, because it was based solely on the results of in vitro (laboratory) work.⁴³ Indeed, subsequent animal studies have shown that such hazards were not found with recommended therapeutic doses of noscapine, requiring megadoses equivalent to 28,000 mg for a bodyweight of 70 kg before observing such effect.⁴⁴ An in vitro study performed in 1991 by Smithkline Beecham Pharmaceuticals, UK, also concluded that noscapine does not pose a significant potential hazard for humans.⁴⁵ The American Academy of Pediatrics considers that noscapine is usually compatible with breast-feeding.⁴⁶

7.0 MECHANISMS OF ACTION

To date, several mechanisms of action have been discovered for noscapine.

In the suppression of cough, it is known that noscapine is centrally acting. The only evidence which currently exists points to noscapine's inhibition of bradykinin as the mode by which it functions.

Noscapine's anti-cancer effect has been primarily attributed to its microtubuleinterfering effect. Recently, noscapine has been found to have antiangiogenic properties (preventing the formation of new blood vessels).⁵¹

Noscapine's effect in treating strokes has been attributed to its bradykinin suppressive effect.

Mechanisms of action in other conditions have yet to be researched and determined.

8.0 PATHWAYS AFFECTED

Noscapine has been shown to affect the following pathways:

8.1 BRADYKININ INHIBITION

Noscapine has been shown to antagonize bradykinin receptors.⁴⁷ Bradykinin is a pro-inflammatory molecule which is responsible for cough. Suppression of bradykinin production has also been suggested as noscapine's mode of action in successfully suppressing cough induced by angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors.⁴⁸

8.2 HIF-1ALPHA INHIBITION

Noscapine has been shown to inhibit HIF-1alpha.⁴⁹ HIF-1alpha is the main transcription factor activated by hypoxia. Since many cancer cells are

hypoxic, they generate HIF-1alpha production. This in turn leads to stimulation of new blood vessel formation (angiogenesis).

8.3 VEGF INHIBITION

HIF-1alpha acts as a transcription factor for production of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a potent promoter of angiogenesis. Noscapine, through its inhibition of HIF-1alpha, has been shown to inhibit production of VEGF.⁴⁹

9.0 DISCUSSION

Noscapine's traditional use is for the relief of cough. Both historical and recent research has demonstrated its additional beneficial properties. These include: dramatically increasing the pain-relieving effects of morphine; treatment of strokes; treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome;⁵⁰ anti-viral and anti-herpes activity;⁵⁶ and in the therapy of cancer.

According to the late Dr. Jonathan L. Hartwell (one of the founders of the US National Cancer Institute), opium has been used for millennia in traditional folk medicine as an anti-cancer agent.⁵¹ Repeated experiments with opium's most known narcotic constituents have failed to demonstrate anti-cancer activity. On the contrary, many studies have found them to be tumor-promoting. The new discovery of the effects of noscapine, the second most abundant alkaloid in opium, may finally solve the mystery behind opium's traditional reputation as an anti-cancer agent.

Whilst the primary investigators at Emory have proposed that noscapine's anti-cancer effect is mediated via arresting microtubules and induction of apoptosis (cell death), an additional mechanism may exist.

Noscapine has been demonstrated to be an effective bradykinin antagonist, and this in fact has been proposed by some authors to be its method of action as a cough suppressant.⁵² This finding, too, bears great significance for treating cancer. Since bradykinin is known to be a growth factor for many cancers, researchers have looked for different ways of inhibiting its release of bradykinin.⁵³ Bradykinin-inhibiting agents have shown a remarkable effect in inhibiting proliferation of cancer cells, far surpassing that of the powerful chemotherapy drug Cisplatin.⁵⁴ They have been proposed as therapy for lung cancers (SCLC & NSCLC), as well as prostate cancer.⁵⁵

A newly discovered mode of action of noscapine is its anti-angiogenic activity. This has potential application not only in the treatment of cancer, but also in the treatment of several inflammatory conditions where anti-angiogenic agents have demonstrated effectiveness.

Consideration should be made of the possibility of synergistic effects between the known multiple mechanisms of action of noscapine. Furthermore, it is possible that additional mechanisms of action may be uncovered by future research.

10.0 AVAILABILITY

Noscapine is currently available in several forms as well as dosages, in the following countries:

Argentina (Rx)	Italy (OTC)
Australia (OTC)	Japan (OTC)
Austria (Rx)	Korea (OTC)
Belgium (OTC)	Netherlands (OTC)
Canada (OTC)	New Zealand (OTC)
Chile (OTC)	Norway (OTC)
China (OTC)	South Africa (OTC)
Denmark (OTC)	Spain (Rx)
Finland (OTC)	Sweden (OTC)
Germany (Rx)	Switzerland (OTC)
Ireland (Rx)	USA (OTC) *
Israel (Rx)	

Rx = prescription required OTC = over the counter * = not widely distributed

11.0 CONCLUSION

Noscapine, a naturally occurring compound, is produced from the opium plant. It is also found in minute quantities in tomatoes and cabbage leaves.⁵⁶ Noscapine has been in clinical use for over fifty years for the treatment of cough. It has a long-established safety record.

Noscapine's newly discovered and as yet unofficially approved clinical applications include the treatment of cancer, stroke and polycystic ovary syndrome.

The low toxicity and high bioavailability of orally administered noscapine is quite unparalleled in cytotoxic therapies. Coupled with its easy availability, low cost, and supporting preclinical and clinical research and experience, noscapine proves to be a suitable experimental therapy for both solid and non-solid malignancies. Noscapine's safety and potential of reducing the death rate from stroke by 75% should qualify it for off-label use in such circumstances.

Noscapine's unique multiple applications, in conjunction with its wellestablished safety record, should encourage further in-depth research and development of its use in treating and reversing a variety of serious medical conditions. In the meantime, it is freely available, and can be used at the discretion of a physician in appropriate circumstances.

ABOUT MEDINSIGHT RESEARCH INSTITUTE

THE MEDINSIGHT RESEARCH INSTITUTE IS A US-BASED 501(C)3 NON-PROFIT PUBLIC ORGANIZATION CO-FOUNDED BY MOSHE ROGOSNITZKY OF ISRAEL AND DR. DAVID YOULTON OF THE UK.

MEDINSIGHT'S MISSION IS TO ALLEVIATE THE SUFFERING OF THOSE AFFLICTED BY LIFE-THREATENING OR CHRONIC MEDICAL CONDITIONS. IT DOES SO BY PROVIDING COMPREHENSIVE SCIENTIFIC REVIEWS OF DATA REGARDING COMMERCIALLY-UNSPONSORED MEDICATIONS, LONG-LOST THERAPIES, AND SPECIALIZED TESTS THAT ENABLE THE PERSONALIZATION OF MEDICAL TREATMENT.

THE MEDINSIGHT WEB SITE, www.medinsight.org WHICH WILL MAKE ALL ITS WORK PUBLIC AND FREELY AVAILABLE, WILL BE LAUNCHED IN JULY 2007.

FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION, E-MAIL MEDINSIGHT RESEARCH INSTITUTE AT info@medinsight.org. TO LEARN OF WAYS TO SUPPORT OUR WORK, PLEASE EMAIL US AT support@medinsight.org

ABOUT PROSTATE CANCER RESEARCH AND EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATION (PCREF)

PC-REF, A 501(C)(3) NON-PROFIT PUBLIC FOUNDATION BASED IN SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA. IT WAS FOUNDED BY DR ISRAEL BARKEN IN 1997. PC-REF FOCUSES ON PATIENT EMPOWERMENT, AND FINANCIALLY SUPPORTING INNOVATIVE PROSTATE CANCER RESEARCH PROJECTS. THEIR FOCUS IS ON RESEARCH IDEAS THAT CAN BENEFIT TODAY'S PATIENTS.

TO SUPPORT CLINICAL RESEARCH OF NOSCAPINE IN PATIENTS SUFFERING FROM PROSTATE CANCER PLEASE VISIT

www.pcref.org

REFERENCES

1 Warolin C., Pierre-Jean Robiquet, Rev Hist Pharm, 47(321):97-110 (Paris, 1999)

2 http://www.strath.ac.uk/Departments/History/jmills/s1.htm

3 Chopra and Knowles, Action of Opium and Narcotine in Malaria, Indian Journal of Medical Research, XVIII, 1. pp 5 - 13 (1930)

4 Macht, D.I., Johnson, S. L. and Bollinger, H. J., Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, pp 8, 451 (1916)

5 Albright, I. C., Acta Brevia Neerlandica de Physiologia, etc., pp 9, 109 (1939)

6 Macht, Herman and Levy, Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, VIII, p. 1 (1916)

7 Zunz, E., Elements de Pharmacodynamie speciale, Masson Edit., pp 1, 184 (Paris 1932)

8 Konzett, H. and Rothlin, E., Experientia, pp 10, 472 (1954)

9 Winter, C.A. & Flataker, L., Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, pp 112, 99 (1954)

10 Bickerman, H.A., Barach, A.L. and Drimmer, F., American Journal of the Medical Sciences, pp 228, 156 (1954)

11 Green, A.F. and Ward, N.B., British Journal of Pharmacology, pp 10, 418 (1955)

12 Janschulte, B., Medizinische Klinik, pp 50, 1788 (1958)

13 Bergmann, M. and Stolzer, H., Wiener medizinische Wochenschrift, No. 9 (1956)

14 Merck and Co., Inc., The Merck Index of Chemicals and Drugs, VIIth edition, p 737 (Rahway, NJ, 1960)

15 La Barre, J. and Plisnier, H., Pharmaeodynamies Laboratory, University of Brussels Experimental study relating to the antitussive properties of narcotine hydrochloride, UNODC Publications (1959)

16 Eagle, H. and Foley, G., Report to CCNSC Screening Section (1958)

17 Lettre, H., Synergists and Antagonists of Mitotic Poisons, Ann. N.Y. Academy of Science, 58:1264 (1954)

- 18 Ye, K., Keshava, N., Shanks, J., Kapp, J.A., Tekmal, R.R., Petros, J., Joshi, H.C., Opium Alkaloid Noscapine is an Antitumor Agent that Arrests Metaphase and Induces Apoptosis in Dividing Cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA, 95(4):1601-1606 (Feb. 17, 1998)
- 19 Ye, K., Grossniklaus, H.E., Archer, D.R., Joshi, H.C., Kapp, J.A., Noscapine Inhibits Tumor Growth With Little Toxicity to Normal Tissues or Inhibition of Immune Responses, Cancer Immunol Immunother, 49(4-5):217-225 (July 2000)
- 20 Zhou, J., Gupta, K., Yao, J., Ye, K., Panda, D., Giannakakou, P., Joshi, H.C., Paclitaxel-Resistant Human Ovarian Cancer Cells Undergo C-Jun NH2-Terminal Kinase-Mediated Apoptosis in Response to Noscapine, J. Biol. Chem., 277(42):39777-85 (October 18, 2002)
- 21 Landen, J.W., Lang, R., McMahon, S.J., Rusan, N.M., Yvon, A.M., Adams, A.W., Sorcinelli, M.D., Campbell, R., Bonaccorsi, P., Ansel, J.C., Archer, D.R., Wadsworth, P., Armstrong, C.A., Joshi, H.C., Noscapine Alters Microtubule Dynamics in Living Cells and Inhibits The Progression of Melanoma, Cancer Res., 62(14):4109-14 (July 15, 2002)
- 22 Landen, J.W., Hau, V., Wang, M., Davis, T., Ciliax, B., Wainer, B.H., Van Meir, E.G., Glass, J.D., Joshi, H.C., Archer, D.R., Noscapine Crosses The Blood-Brain Barrier and Inhibits Glioblastoma Growth, Clin. Cancer Res., 10(15):5187-201 (August 1, 2004)
- 23 Zhou, J., Panda, D., Landen, J.W., Wilson, L., Joshi, H.C., Minor Alteration of Microtubule Dynamics Causes Loss of Tension Across Kinetochore Pairs and Activates the Spindle Checkpoint, J. Biol. Chem., 277(19):17200-8 (May 10, 2002)
- 24 Ye, K., Zhou, J., Landen, J.W., Bradbury, E.M., Joshi, H.C., Sustained Activation of P34(cdc2) is Required for Noscapine-Induced Apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem., 276(50):46697-700 (December 14, 2001)
- 25 Ghosth K., Wild, R.C., Carson, L.F., Twiggs, L.B. and Ramakrishnan, S. Noscapine, a new antitumor agent in the treatment of ovarian cancer. Proc. AACR. Abstract # 1368, 1999
- 26 Dauffenbach, L. and Ramakrishnan, S. Noscapine induces apoptosis in a taxol-resistant ovarian cancer cell line and inhibits recurrence after surgical debulking. Proc. AACR. Abstract # 4733, 2002
- 27 Dr Sundaram Ramakrishnan, personal communication, 7 January '05.

28 U.S. Provisional Application Serial #60/057,037 (Aug. 19, 1997)

29 Patent #6,376,516 (April 23, 2002)

30 http://www.emory.edu/EMORY_REPORT/erarchive/1998/September/erseptember.8/9_8_98Cancer.html

31 U.S. Patent #6,673,814

32 Zhou, J., Gupta, K., Aggarwal, S., Aneja, R., Chandra, R., Panda, D., Joshi, H.C., Brominated Derivatives of Noscapine are Potent Microtubule-Interfering Agents that Perturb Mitosis and Inhibit Cell Proliferation, Mol. Pharmacol. 63(4):799-807 (April 2003)

33 http://www.cougarbiotechnology.com/News/pr_061504.htm

- 34 Sobey, C.G., Bradykinin B2 Receptor Antagonism: a New Direction for Acute Stroke Therapy?, Br. J. Pharmacol., 139(8):1369-1371 Review (August, 2003)
- 35 Mahmoudian, M., Mehrpour, M., Benaissa, F., Siadatpour, Z., A Preliminary Report on the Application of Noscapine in the Treatment of Stroke, Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 59(8-9):579-581 (November 2003)
- 36 Dahlstrom, B., Mellstrand, T., Lofdahl, C.G., Johansson, M., Pharmacokinetic Properties of Noscapine, Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 22(6):535-539 (1982)
- 37 Karlsson, M.O., Dahlstrom, B., Eckernas, S.A., Johansson, M., Alm, A.T., Pharmacokinetics of Oral Noscapine, Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 39(3):275-279 (1990)
- 38 Jensen, L.N., Christrup, L.L., Jacobsen, L., Bonde, J., Bundgaard, H., Relative Bioavailability in Man of Noscapine Administered in Lozenges and Mixture, Acta Pharm. Nord., 4(4):309-312 (1992)
- 39 Winter, C.A., Flataker, L., Toxicity Studies on Noscapine, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol., 3:96-106 (January, 1961)
- 40 J. American Medical Association, Noscapine, 167(8):993-994 (June 21, 1958)
- 41 Lasagna, L., Owens A.H. Jr, Shnider, B.I., Gold, G.L., Toxicity After Large Doses of Noscapine, Cancer Chemotherapy Rep., 15:33-34 (Dec. 1961)
- 42 BMJ, Papaveretum in Women of Childbearing Potential, 303(6803):648 (September 14, 1991)
- 43 BMJ, Papaveretum in Women of Childbearing Potential, 303(6803):647 (September 14, 1991)
- 44 Tiveron, C., Hartley-Asp, B., Johansson, C.J., Pacchierotti, F., Noscapine Does Not Show Aneugenic Activity in Mouse Cocytes, Mutagenesis, 8(4):311-315 (July 1993)
- 45 Mitchell, I.D., Carlton, J.B., Chan, M.Y., Robinson, A., Sunderland, J., Noscapine-Induced Polyploidy In-vitro, Mutagenesis, 6(6):479-486 (November 1991)
- 46 http://nutrisci.wisc.edu/~lai/NS431/Lactation/AAPdrugToMilk.pdf
- 47 Mahmoudian M, Mojaverian N. Efffect of noscapine, the antitussive opioid alkaloid, on bradykinin-induced smooth muscle contraction in the isolated ileum of the guinea-pig. Acta Physiol Hung. 2001;88(3-4):231-7
- 48 Mooraki A, Jenabi A, Jabbari M, Zolfaghari MI, Javanmardi SZ, Mahmoudian M, Bastani B. Noscapine suppresses angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors-induced cough. Nephrology (Carlton). 2005 Aug;10(4):348-50
- 49 Newcomb EW, Lukyanov Y, Schnee T, Ali MA, Lan L, Zagzag D. Noscapine inhibits hypoxia-mediated HIF-1alpha expression andangiogenesis in vitro: a novel function for an old drug. Int J Oncol. 2006 May;28(5):1121-30
- 50 Anjali Rath, Dr. B.R. Ambedker Centre for Biomedical Sciences, University of Delhi, personal communication, 1 Dec 04. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- 51 Hartwell, J., Plants used against cancer. A survey., Lloydia, 34(3):310-61. Review. (Sep. 1971)
- 52 Ebrahimi, S.A., Zareie, M.R., Rostami, P., Mahmoudian, M., Interaction of Noscapine with the Bradykinin Mediation of the Cough Response, Acta Physiol. Hung., 90(2):147-55 (2003)
- 53 Stewart, J.M., Bradykinin Antagonists as Anti-Cancer Agents, Curr. Pharm. Des., 9(25):2036-42 Review (2003)
- 54 Stewart, J.M., Gera, L., Chan, D.C., Bunn, P.A. Jr, York, E.J., Simkeviciene, V., Helfrich, B., Bradykinin-Related Compounds as New Drugs for Cancer and Inflammation, Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol., 80(4):275-280 (April 2002)
- 55 Stewart JM, Chan DC, Simkeviciene V, Bunn PA Jr, Helfrich B, York EJ, Taraseviciene-Stewart L, Bironaite D, Gera L. Bradykinin antagonists as new drugs for prostate cancer. Int Immunopharmacol. 2002 Dec;2(13-14):1781-6
- 56 Phytochemical Database, USDA ARS NGRL, Beltsville Agricultural Research Center, Beltsville, Maryland accessed online http://www/ars-grin.gov/cgi-bin/duke/chemical.pl?NARCOTINE